
This issue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin © <enb@iisd.org> is written and edited by Tomilola “Tomi” Akanle, Asheline Appleton, Douglas Bushey, Kati Kulovesi, Ph.D., 
Leila Mead, and Anna Schulz. The Digital Editor is Tallash Kantai. The Editor is Pamela S. Chasek, Ph.D. <pam@iisd.org>. The Director of IISD Reporting Services is 
Langston James “Kimo” Goree VI <kimo@iisd.org>. The Sustaining Donors of the Bulletin are the United Kingdom (through the Department for International Development 
– DFID), the Government of the United States of America (through the Department of State Bureau of Oceans and International Environmental and Scientific Affairs), the 
Government of Canada (through CIDA), the Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the German Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development (BMZ), the 
German Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety (BMU), the Netherlands Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the European Commission 
(DG-ENV), and the Italian Ministry for the Environment, Land and Sea. General Support for the Bulletin during 2009 is provided by the Norwegian Ministry of Foreign 
Affairs, the Government of Australia, the Austrian Federal Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry, Environment and Water Management, the Ministry of Environment of Sweden, 
the New Zealand Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade, SWAN International, Swiss Federal Office for the Environment (FOEN), the Finnish Ministry for Foreign Affairs, 
the Japanese Ministry of Environment (through the Institute for Global Environmental Strategies - IGES), the Japanese Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry (through 
the Global Industrial and Social Progress Research Institute - GISPRI), the Government of Iceland, and the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP). The opinions 
expressed in the Bulletin are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of IISD or other donors. Excerpts from the Bulletin may be used in non-commercial 
publications with appropriate academic citation. For information on the Bulletin, including requests to provide reporting services, contact the Director of IISD Reporting 
Services at <kimo@iisd.org>, +1-646-536-7556 or 300 East 56th St., 11A, New York, New York 10022, United States of America. The ENB Team at SB 30 can be contacted 
by e-mail at <kati@iisd.org>.

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
A Reporting Service for Environment and Development Negotiations

Online at http://www.iisd.ca/climate/sb30/

SB 30

Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD)Vol. 12 No. 420 Friday, 12 June 2009

Earth Negotiations Bulletin
#11

SB 30 AND AWG HIGHLIGHTS: 
THURSDAY, 11 JUNE 2009

In the morning and afternoon, the AWG-LCA met in an 
informal plenary. Throughout the day, contact groups and 
informal consultations took place under the AWG-KP.

 AWG-LCA INFORMAL PLENARY
FINANCE: The AWG-LCA informal plenary convened in 

the morning to continue considering the draft negotiating text. 
AWG-LCA Chair Zammit Cutajar introduced the revised text 
on finance, which, inter alia, incorporates new textual proposals 
received from parties, and includes brackets around text that 
parties proposed deleting during the first meeting. 

The second reading of the text on finance then commenced 
with parties identifying additions and corrections. The 
Philippines, for the G-77/CHINA, noted that the finance text 
was shorter than other sections and stressed the importance of 
the issue.

MITIGATION: In the afternoon, the AWG-LCA focused 
on the revised draft negotiating text on mitigation, starting 
with a combined first and second reading of the text relating to 
paragraphs 1(b)iv-vi of the Bali Action Plan.

On economic and social consequences of response measures, 
SAUDI ARABIA opposed a structural proposal by some parties 
to hold the whole section in abeyance pending results of relevant 
work under the joint SBSTA/SBI contact group and the AWG-
KP. He also opposed reference to environmental consequences in 
this section, while proposing reference to Convention Article 3.2 
(burden sharing) as well as to a paragraph in the Convention’s 
preamble, which refers to developing countries whose 
economies are particularly dependent on fossil fuel production, 
use and exportation. 

JAPAN opposed creating a forum focused on sharing 
information, experiences and views on the economic and social 
consequences of response measures. TUVALU urged focusing 
on low-income countries, and particularly the effects on women 
and children. He stressed that policies and measures should 
be undertaken to ensure mitigation does not contribute to 
deforestation and forest degradation.

On approaches to enhance cost-effectiveness of mitigation 
actions, including markets, the EU called for a common vision 
on how the global carbon market may develop, taking into 

consideration the relationship between the market mechanisms 
created under the Protocol and those being proposed under the 
AWG-LCA. JAPAN expressed reservation with options seeking 
to limit to 10% the provision of credits for offsetting reduction 
targets of developed countries. TUVALU expressed concern over 
the use of Protocol terminology in the text, emphasizing that the 
AWG-LCA’s work should not be a substitute for the extension of 
the Protocol into a second commitment period.

On cooperative sectoral approaches and sector-specific 
approaches, the G-77/CHINA said that sectoral efforts may 
contribute to, but should not replace, legally-binding mitigation 
commitments by Annex I countries. With respect to mitigation 
by developing countries, she said sectoral efforts could be 
included in “the toolbox for NAMAs.” JAPAN supported 
incorporating sectoral approaches into finance and technology 
mechanisms, and proposed establishing a sectoral advisory 
group, which would match support and actions to achieve 
emission reductions. 

The EU stressed the importance of the agricultural sector and 
highlighted the need for global action regarding the maritime 
and aviation sectors. AUSTRALIA stressed that all sectors and 
sources related to international aviation and maritime emissions 
should be addressed. She said that achieving emission reductions 
in these sectors requires a concerted effort from all countries, in 
an effective and equitable manner, to avoid trade distortions and 
impacts on sectors, such as tourism. She supported an indicative 
global emission reduction goal for each of the two sectors, and 
proposed agreeing at COP 15 to commence negotiations on two 
new treaties to address emissions from aviation and maritime 
transport under the Convention, and concluding the negotiations 
by COP 17. 

TANZANIA, for LDCs, said sectoral approaches should be 
tailor made, taking into account the specific needs of LDCs, and 
assist in fostering national initiatives relevant to research and 
development. 

While appreciating the value of international cooperation 
regarding mitigation in the agricultural sector, TUVALU 
said sectoral approaches would be better considered under 
NAMAs, and cautioned against creating a new sectoral 
offsetting mechanism. Regarding bunker fuels, he highlighted 
opportunities for bunker fuels to generate new sources of 
funding, while noting that more focused work on bunker fuels 



Friday, 12 June 2009   Vol. 12 No. 420  Page 2
Earth Negotiations Bulletin

 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

was being done under the AWG-KP. ALGERIA stressed that 
sectoral approaches and sector-specific actions should not be 
used to circumvent or undermine differences between Annex 
I and non-Annex I countries. Regarding air transport, he 
expressed concern that significant constraints could be imposed 
on developing country airlines, and said they should be exempt 
or given financial and technical support without incurring 
incremental costs. 

Parties then proceeded to the second reading of text relating 
to paragraphs 1(b)i-iii of the Bali Action Plan, as well as text 
introduced for a chapeau or preamble to the mitigation chapter. 
Some parties proposed detailed additions to the text and others 
suggested corrections to ensure that their proposals were 
properly reflected.

CONTACT GROUPS AND INFORMAL CONSULTATIONS
POTENTIAL CONSEQUENCES (AWG-KP): During a 

contact group, parties continued to work on draft text. Issues 
addressed included, inter alia: the use of technology to address 
potential consequences; coordination of work with other 
UNFCCC processes; relevant decisions and articles under the 
Protocol; and vulnerability and ability to respond to the potential 
consequences of response measures. 

AUSTRALIA opposed inclusion of a paragraph on technology 
transfer, noting that these issues are being considered under the 
SBI and SBSTA. South Africa, for the G-77/CHINA, stressed that 
the text on technology was in reference to implementation, and 
that finance and risk management tools were also addressed under 
the current subheading on use of technology. SAUDI ARABIA 
supported reference to economic diversification and highlighted 
that work under the SBI and SBSTA on Protocol Article 2.3 
(adverse effects of policies and measures) and Protocol Article 
3.14 (adverse effects and impact of response measures) focuses 
on current commitments, while this contact group’s work is 
related to future commitments. Discussions will continue.

ANNEX I EMISSION REDUCTIONS (AWG-KP): During 
a morning contact group, the Co-Chairs invited South Africa and 
the Philippines to explain their proposed individual targets for 
Annex I parties.

SOUTH AFRICA explained that the starting point for their 
proposal is an aggregate reduction range by Annex I countries 
of 40% below 1990 levels by 2020, based on the most ambitious 
scenario outlined in the IPCC AR4. He said this aggregate 
target was then allocated among Annex I countries based on 
responsibility and capability. He specified that responsibility 
covered, in particular, responsibility for cumulative emissions 
since the industrial revolution, calculated using the period 1850-
2005, and that capability encompassed a broader assessment than 
just per capita income. 

The PHILIPPINES said they used a similar methodology and 
criteria to South Africa, with different aggregate numbers as a 
starting point. He explained that the numbers they used were: 
30% aggregate reduction by Annex I countries in the second 
commitment period 2013-2017, and 50% aggregate reduction in 
the third commitment period 2018-2022. 

Responding to questions, SOUTH AFRICA explained that: 
responsibility was given a 60% weighting and capability was 
given 40%; the UNDP Human Development Index (HDI) was 

applied as an adjustment to the capability criterion; and the 
historical data used was obtained from the World Resources 
Institute’s Climate Analysis Indicators Tool and the IPCC. 

JAPAN highlighted a high level of uncertainty in the data 
used and questioned its use as a basis for a legally-binding 
agreement. SOUTH AFRICA, INDIA and others stressed that 
the datasets were reliable indicators of historical responsibility. 
INDIA and BRAZIL noted that much scientific data, including 
climate change data, contains varying degrees of uncertainty and 
underlined that this does not preclude actions broadly based on 
these datasets. NEW ZEALAND underscored the need to come 
up with “politically acceptable” numbers.

IN THE CORRIDORS
Even after the conclusion of the SBs, the corridors of the 

Maritim remained busy on Thursday. Many commented that it 
was also “a noisy day” - throughout the morning, a loud “climate 
alarm” blared from NGO activists outside the hotel. Some 
delegates were amused and others welcomed the protest as a 
useful reminder of the seriousness of the issues being discussed. 
However, some of those working closer to the source of the 
noise were not so understanding: “I felt it was quite effective - if 
the aim was to prevent us from concentrating on our work,” one 
delegate half-joked.

Those following the AWG-LCA seemed already willing 
to reflect on the session’s achievements and the possible way 
forward. While some seemed puzzled by the brevity of the 
second week’s AWG-LCA plenary sessions, others praised 
the immense amount of important work that went into putting 
together the text, which has now grown to over 200 pages. 
“What we did was useful - and going through the text in an 
informal plenary setting, paragraph by paragraph, would not 
have been helpful,” said one delegate. He seemed optimistic that 
what might have seemed like a “short-term loss of time” could 
be made up for at Bonn 3. “Realistically, not much more could 
have been expected at this session,” another delegate added.

Outside the plenary, one of the main topics discussed in the 
corridors was how the AWG-KP would move forward. During 
the day, the form and content of the AWG-KP 8 conclusions 
were being worked out in a series of informal consultations 
with the AWG-KP Chair. For some of those emerging from final 
informal consultations at around 8 pm, the mood was resigned: 
“We couldn’t agree on a mandate for the Chair to communicate 
text on possible Protocol amendments, so it looks like all we’ll 
be asking him to do is to prepare documentation to facilitate 
discussions next time,” one delegate reported. “It would have 
been nice to forward jointly a legal text,” said another, “but it’s 
a negotiation, and I see why others didn’t want to.” Some were 
surprised that the evening’s informal AWG-KP meeting ended up 
being so short. One senior delegate however was happy with the 
early finish, saying he had been worried about having to pull an 
all-nighter.

ENB SUMMARY AND ANALYSIS: The Earth Negotiations 
Bulletin summary and analysis of SB 30 and the AWG meetings 
will be available on Monday, 15 June 2009 online at: http://www.
iisd.ca/climate/sb30/

http://www.iisd.ca/climate/sb30/
http://www.iisd.ca/climate/sb30/


<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


